IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PERRIN H. LOWREY

APPELLANT

VS.

NO: 2007-CA-01988

CYNTHIA NELSON LOWREY

APPELLEE

On appeal from the Chancery Court of Lamar County, Mississippi Case No. 2002-0254-GN

BRIEF OF APPELLANT ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

TUCKER BUCHANAN, P.A.
Thomas T. Buchanan, Bar No.
P. O. Box 4326
Laurel, MS 39441-4326
Telephone: 601-649-8000

Facsimile: 601-649-8009

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Statement of the Issues
Statement of the Case and Relevant Procedural History
Statement of the Facts
Summary of the Argument
Standard of Review
Argument
Conclusion
Certificate of Service and Filing

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

The Appellant, Perrin H. Lowrey, submits that oral argument may be beneficial to the resolution of this case. This case has a unique and complex procedural history, and addresses issues of first impression.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

MISSISSIPPI CASES

Armstrong v. Armstrong, 692 So.2d 65 (Miss. 1997)
Childs v. Childs, 806 So.2d 273 (Miss Ct. App. 2000)
Craft v. Craft, 825 So.2d 605 (Miss. 2002)
Dunaway v. Dunaway, 749 So.2d 1112 (Miss Ct. App. 1999)
Ferguson v. Ferguson, 63 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994) 19,21,22,24,26
Gray v. Gray, 909 So.2d 108(Miss. Ct. App. 2005)
Hemsley v.Hemsley, 639 So.2d 909 (Miss. 1994)
Henderson v. Henderson, 703 So.2d 262 (Miss. 1997)
Johnson v. Johnson, 650 So.2d 1281 (Miss. 1995)
King v. King, 946 So.2d 395 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)
Lowrey v. Lowrey, 919 So.2d 1112 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) 2,6,11,14,15,35,37
Mabus v. Mabus, 847 So.2d 815, 821 (Miss. 2003)
Miss. Dep't of Transp. v. Trosclair, 851, So.2d 408 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)
Mitchell v. Mitchell, 823 So.2d 568 (Miss. Ct, App. 2002)
Morreale v. Morrreale, 646 So.2d 1264 (Miss. 1994)
Patout v. Patout, 733 So.2d 770 (Miss. 1999)
Sarver v. Sarver, 687 So.2d 749 (Miss. 1997)

Thompson v. Thompson, 894 So.2d 603 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)
Touchstone v. Touchstone, 682 So.2d 374 (Miss. 1996)
Wolfe v. Wolfe, 766 So.2d 123 (Miss Ct. App. 2000)
MISSISSIPPI STATUTES
Miss. Code Ann. § 43-19-101 (2004)
Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-24 (2004)
MISSISSIPPI RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE
MRCP (52)(a)
MISSISSIPPI RULES OF UNIFORM CHANCERY COURT PROCEDURE
Rule 8.05

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. THE CHANCERY COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN ITS FAILURE TO CONDUCT A PROPER FERGUSON ANALYSIS AND COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR IN ITS FAILURE TO PROPERLY ACCOUNT FOR THE WASTE OF MARITAL ASSETS BY CYNTHIA LOWREY
- 2. THE CHANCERY COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW AND COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR IN ITS AWARD OF ALIMONY, FAILURE MAKE A PROPER ARMSTRONG ANALYSIS AND THE USE OF A FORMULA FOR AN AWARD OF ALIMONY WHICH IS UNSUPPORTED BY ANY SUBSTANTIAL, CREDIBLE EVIDENCE
- 3. THE CHANCERY COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT IN ITS CALCULATION OF CHILD SUPPORT
- 4. THE DECISION OF THE CHANCERY COURT GRANTING THE PARTIES' JOINT LEGAL CUSTODY OF THE MINOR CHILDREN IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL CREDIBLE EVIDENCE
- 5. THE CHANCERY COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DID NOT PROVIDE SPECIFIC FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AS REQUESTED BY PERRIN

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A copy of the Chancery Court docket (CP 7-15) is contained in the Record Excerpts of Appellant (RE 1-9) as well as a copy of the Clerk's List of Papers. (CP 1-5) (RE 10-15) Cynthia N. Lowrey and Perrin Lowrey executed a Joint Complaint for Divorce, on the ground of irreconcilable differences, on July 1, 2002, which was filed with the Chancery Court of Lamar County, Mississippi, on that date. (C.P.4) The parties also executed a Child Custody, Child Support and Property Settlement Agreement. After a previous appeal that was assigned to the Mississippi Court of Appeals, that Court remanded this case back to Chancery Court on the following issues:

We remand this matter to the chancery court for a hearing on the parties' joint bill of complaint with instructions to resolve the unresolved matters of child custody, child visitation, child support, property division, and alimony and any other necessary matters not inconsistent with this opinion. (Paragraph 39)

(CP112) (RE 198) Let wot appealled

Throughout this brief the prior appeal, which resulted in the remand, shall be referred to as "Lowrey I". (Court of Appeals Case # 2004-CA-00532-COA) (RE 184-199) On remand the Chancery Court permitted both parties to file pleadings consistent with the above mandate from the Court of Appeals. Accordingly a Scheduling Order was entered by the Chancery Court. (CP 138-139) Through counsel, Cynthia filed a Complaint for Relief in Divorce Action (CP 164-174) to which Perrin filed a Response and Counterclaim. (CP 217-277) An Amended Scheduling Order was entered by the Chancery Court on October 23, 2006. That Order

confirmed that the parties were divorced on the ground of irreconcilable differences on September 3, 2002, permitted amendment to the pleadings consistent with the mandate of the Mississippi Court of Appeals, appointed a Guardian Ad Litem for the children of the parties, established discovery deadlines for both parties, and set th matter for trial on March 14 and 15, 2007. (CP 210-211) Cynthia subsequently filed an Amended Complaint for Relief in Divorce Action, Complaint for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress and Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress, (CP 319-328) as well as a Motion and Amended Motion to Disqualify Counsel (CP 186-189) (CP 278-318). Perrin filed a Motion to Strike Amended Motion for Disqualification and to Expunge (CP 329-346) as well as an Answer to Amended Complaint for Relief in Divorce Action, Complaint for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress and Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress, Affirmative Defenses and Motion to Dismiss (CP381-389) A Temporary Order was entered by the Court on November 6, 2006. (CP 347-348) Pursuant to the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. § 93-11-65 (2004) the three minor children of the parties, Erin Lowrey, Emelie Lowrey, and Brittny Lowrey, each filed elections as to their custody preferences, which were prepared by the Guardian Ad Litem, each electing to live with their father, Perrin Lowrey. (CP 405) (RE 48) (CP 468) (CP 406) (RE 47) (RE 49) Perrin filed a Motion to Deem Request for Admissions Admitted and Motion to Compel Responses to Second Set of Interrogatories (CP 429-491) and Request for Specific Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law (CP 547) A Motion for Continuance of the trial (set for March 14 and 15, 2007) was filed by Cynthia Lowrey on March 6, 2007, whereby counsel

Content lover

for Cindy represented that Cynthia was emotionally unstable, possibly suicidal and incapable of standing trial. (CP 495-497) The Chancellor subsequently entered an Order which re-set the motion to continue and admitted the MRE 1006 summary which had been furnished to Cynthia with a Request for Admissions. (CP 498-499) A Motion for Partial Summarv Judgment was filed by Perrin seeking the dismissal of tort claims plead by Cynthia. (CP 509-532) After a trial on the merits was ultimately held on July 17 and 18, 2007 (Tr. 151-531) the Chancery Court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (CP 547-555) (RE 16-24) and a Judgment of Custody, Visitation, Support and Equitable Distribution of Marital Property (CP 556-557) (RE 25-26) The Chancery Court entered an Order granting summary judgment to Perrin as to all tort claims and punitive damage claims filed by Cynthia and dismissed the same with prejudice. (CP 560) (RE 45) The Chancery Court also entered an Order granting the relief requested by the law firm of Erik M. Lowrey, P.A., former counsel for Perrin, in its Amended Motion to Strike and ordered that all references to any alleged unethical conduct and/or violations of the Rules of Professional Responsibility by Erik M. Lowrey, P.A. or any of its members be struck and expunged from the record. (CP 560) (RE 46) Perrin filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter and Amend Judgment and Request for Specific Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law. (CP 562-577) (RE 27-42) The Chancery Court entered an Order Denying Motion to Reconsider, Alter or Amend. (CP 580-581) (RE 43-44) Perrin then filed a Notice of Appeal (CP 583-581) which is now perfected and before the reviewing Court.

**X

ND OKERAL

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties to this divorce matter are Perrin H. Lowrey and Cynthia Nelson Lowrey who were lawfully married on the 19th day of August 1983, in Forrest County, Mississippi. (Tr. 476) They lived together as husband and wife until the date of their final separation which took place on or about June 20, 2002, in Lamar County, Mississippi. Three (3) children were born to the marriage, namely Brittny Lowrey, a female, born June 10, 1987; Erin Lowrey, a female, born May 26, 1991; and Emelie Lowrey, a female, born May 26, 1991. Cynthia has worked in florist shops and currently works full time in a grocery store. (Tr. 3) Perrin is retired from working at Hattiesburg Public Schools, where he had been working since approximately eight years prior to the marriage, and currently works part-time at the University of Southern Mississippi. (Tr. 476) The parties were divorced by Order of the Chancery Court of Lamar County, Mississippi, on the 3rd day of September 2002. (CP 28) Subsequent to the entry of the divorce decree, Cynthia Nelson Lowrey then filed a Rule 60 motion which was denied and then took an appeal to the Mississippi Court of Appeals alleging overreaching and challenging the fairness of the property settlement agreement. Though there had been no evidentiary hearings, the Mississippi Court of Appeals was furnished purported facts through a written proffer, signed by Cynthia's attorney, Mr. Mark Chinn, Esq. (CP 56-61) The matter was remanded to the Chancery Court of Lamar County, Mississippi to resolve the matters of child custody, child visitation, child support, property

division, alimony, and any other necessary matters not inconsistent with the Opinion of the Mississippi Court of Appeals. (CP 97) (RE 184) After a continuance, made at the request of Cynthia Lowrey, (CP 495) this matter was finally heard at a trial on the merits on July 17 and 18, 2007 (Tr. 151-531). Swere offered into evidence, of which all were admitted, with the support of exhibit which were marked for identification only. (RE 50-51) The facts that were established, as contained in the record on this appeal, and set forth below, were far different, more complete and substantiated than those tendered to the Court of Appeals in *Lowrey I* which had only the proffer authored by Cynthia's attorney.

On June 23, 2002, Cynthia told Perrin that she had "lost everything." due to a gambling addiction. For the next two weeks, both parties talked every day to address the financial quagmire they found themselves in. The parties also sought counsel from their pastor, Dr. Dick Allison. (Tr. 499) The decision was made that Cynthia would leave and get an apartment and Perrin would try and find a way to deal with the debts that had been run up by Cynthia. (Tr. 499-500) Perrin advised Cynthia that she needed to get her own attorney. (Tr. 501) In fact, Cynthia testified that she did indeed see an attorney. Cynthia testified that she picked up a first set of divorce papers from the office of Erik Lowrey, but that those papers "were destroyed" and she picked up a second set. (Tr. 267) Cynthia further testified that she did not read the papers, that she went to Erik Lowrey's office and picked them up at the window in a folder. Cynthia took the papers away from the office, drove away, came back

to the office and returned them. Cynthia then immediately took the divorce papers to the office of an attorney who reviewed them with her. (Tr. 268-269) (Tr. 314) On cross-examination Cynthia testified that she had spoken to "several" attorneys about her divorce and that no-one had prevented or discouraged her from getting legal advice. (Tr. 313) Cynthia stated that she could not afford the price to retain an attorney, and she had not sought help from Legal Services. (Tr. 113) Cynthia stated that she never spoke to Perrin's brother, Erik Lowrey, concerning her divorce, never spoke to any partner or associate at that firm and that the only person she spoke to was a lady at the window who gave her the papers. (Tr. 314)

When Cynthia left the home, she did so at a time when Perrin and the children were out of town at a conference on the coast. Cynthia was free to take any personal property that she desired to take. That time period was agreed to by both parties. Cynthia also had a yard sale to generate cash, because all of the cash from the entire marriage was gone. Cynthia kept all of the proceeds of the yard sale. The parties also agreed on a general visitation schedule with the minor children. (Tr. 502-503) Perrin testified that the time of the divorce was a "dark period" in his life and that it stayed that way for about a year. Perrin was left responsible for taking care of the children and the marital estate and family finances which were in the negatives. The family was fighting credit card companies, Perrin was trying to hold onto the house and did not know if he would be able to stop from going under. (Tr. 504-506) As of the date of the divorce, the remaining equity in the home was only \$19,000.00. (Ex. 2) (RE 63) (Ex. 3) (RE 69-77) The cars driven by the parties had a combined value of only \$5,000.00

and their personal property had a value of only \$2,600.00. There was \$600.00 left in the joint checking and savings accounts. There were no other assets, other than Perrin's state retirement from working for the school system. Meanwhile, the parties owed \$76,000.00 on the mortgage on the former marital home and \$87, 463.00 in additional unsecured debts. Total assets were \$163, 178.04. Total liabilities were \$163, 463.00. The value of the marital estate is identified and valued as existed on September 3, 2002, the date of the parties' divorce at -\$284.96. (Ex. 2) (RE 63-68)

Cynthia has a self-confessed long-term gambling problem which existed during the marriage, as well as other emotional and psychological problems. These problems put an immense strain on Perrin, the marriage, the three minor daughters of the parties, as well as on the present and future financial condition of the family. At the hearing on temporary features Cynthia testified, under oath, that she had not gambled in the last four years and had no desire to gamble. Cynthia also testified that it was her gambling addiction that had destroyed the marriage. (Tr. 6) At trial Cynthia appeared to be willing to take some responsibility for these problems, saying "It's very difficult for me to rid myself of the pain that I've caused the people I love." (Tr. 240) Cynthia further testified on direct examination that two years prior to the divorce, in the year 2000, she would secretly go to the coast to gamble at night, leaving after the children had gone to bed. (Tr. 272) Cynthia would have yard sales and would even sell items that belonged to her children, who would try and take them back, to raise extra cash. (Tr. 286) Cynthia asked her oldest daughter, Brittny, to help her hide her bank

statements, which showed the checks written to the casinos, by placing them on top of the refrigerator before Perrin could see them. (Tr. 368)

Cynthia also suffers from depression. On direct examination her daughter, Brittny, testified that Cynthia told her that it was her fault that Cynthia was depressed. Brittny stated that this accusation was the reason she stopped seeing her mother. (Tr. 399) Brittny testified that her mother said the same things to her younger sister, Erin, which had the same effect, and that one year later Erin's twin sister Emelie stopped seeing Cynthia as well. (Tr. 401) Brittny surmised "She hurt me in so many ways I just have no need to talk to her anymore." (Tr. 402) Cynthia also testified, contrary to the facts proffered on her behalf in Lowrey I, that she took responsibility for the divorce, that she "did not blame anyone but myself" and that she had gone to the children and told them she had wasted a lot of money. When asked if she still took responsibility for that she replied "I do, Sir." (Tr. 367) These problems led Cynthia to become increasingly isolated from her three daughters and placed an immense psychological and financial toll on the family and upon Perrin. The Guardian Ad Litem appointed by the Chancellor in this case testified that there was no evidence whatsoever that Perrin was the source of discontent between Cynthia and the children. (Tr. 529)

Cynthia did all that she could to conceal her gambling problem from the rest of the family. Perrin first became aware of this problem in the summer of 1996. At that time Cynthia confessed that she had been gambling and had ran up credit card debts. She also told Perrin that she was going to stop gambling. Cynthia and Perrin agreed to cut up the credit

cards, and Perrin embarked on paying off between \$12,000 and \$14,000 in credit card debts. (Tr. 212) In the summer of 2001, Perrin and Cynthia took out a home equity line of credit, something that they had never done before. The reason was that Cynthia had said there were credit card debts that were bothering her, principally on an ATT credit card. (Tr. 211) At that time the only gambling that Perrin was aware of was at an annual conference on the Mississippi gulf coast, which was attended by Perrin and the rest of the family where they would typically gamble between \$50.00 and \$100.00. (Tr. 213) Other than these trips, taken by Perrin to conferences resulting from him being employed by the public school district in Hattiesburg, Cynthia could not testify to any other times that she and Perrin had been at a casino together. (Tr. 291) At trial Cynthia denied gambling as recently as 2005 or since. (Tr. 312) This testimony was directly contradicted by the testimony of a credible rebuttal witness, Michael Slay, who testified that he personally observed Cynthia at the Imperial Palace Casino in Biloxi on Friday night, June 14, 2006, sitting in front of a slot machine. (Tr. 466)

In addition to the devastating effect that Cynthia's decisions and choices had on her relationship with her children and Perrin, they had an equally devastating effect on the family finances, and they converted any value the entire marital estate of the parties might have had to a negative figure. The amount of money that was documented to have been wasted by Cynthia at trial is truly astonishing, when considering the fact that the Lowrey family was one that supported three children on ordinary middle class income.

Prior to the divorce, and also not mentioned to the Mississippi Court of Appeals in

Lowrey I, Perrin paid off \$42,000.00 worth of gambling debts (Tr. 224) which included an ATT credit card and home equity line of credit, as well as debt owed to Bancorp South (Tr. 225) Perrin inherited \$15,000.00 from the estate of his grandmother between 1995-1996. Perrin put \$2000.00 of this money into savings and used the remainder to defray debts that had been incurred by Cynthia. (Tr. 486) Perrin also paid debts off with a private loan at \$500.00 per month, the last note due in the year 2013, which Perrin alone is paying. (Tr. 224) (Ex. 1) (RE 52) Exhibit 6, as admitted into evidence, shows the withdrawals made by Cynthia on the home equity line of credit between August 15, 2001, through May 16, 2002, reflecting total withdrawals by Cynthia in the amount of \$34, 700.00. (Ex. 6) (RE 113) Perrin borrowed nothing on this credit line, he only paid it. (Tr. 486) At trial a summary of Cynthia's checking account, based on the documentation available, provides a two year snapshot of just how much money was dissipated and wasted by Cynthia to the likes of the Grand Casino, Treasure Bay Casino, Copa Casino, President Casino and Beau Rivage Casino. (Ex. 4) (RE 78-109) Exhibit 8, as admitted into evidence, reflects that during a 27 month period, Cynthia's checking account had deposits made in the amount of \$189,062.97. Of this amount, \$122, 440.00 were paid directly to casinos. \$8,760.00 of the funds were withdrawn as cash. \$29, 421.31 were payable for other payments, \$19, 521.00 were used to pay the house note; leaving a remaining balance of \$8,920.66. (A.A.) (RE 109) Though this summary had been furnished to Cynthia with a Request for Admissions, Cynthia testified that she had not seen them until the day before trial. (Tr. 293) When questioned Cynthia could offer no credible

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