### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PERRIN H. LOWREY

**APPELLANT** 

-VERSUS-

NO. 2007-CA-01988

CYNTHIA NELSON LOWREY

**APPELLEE** 

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed parties have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

Perrin Lowrey, Appellant

Tucker Buchanan, Counsel for Appellant

Erik Lowrey, P.A, former Counsel for Appellant

Honorable James H.C. Thomas, Jr., Chancellor

Honorable Johnny Lee Williams, Chancellor

Cynthia Lowrey, Appellee/Cross-Appellant

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The finding of marital waste was improper because the total amount of actual deposits outstripped actual withdrawals to all casinos, revealing no actual gambling waste. This "waste" was subtracted from the amounts Cindy would have received and impacted, negatively her equitable distribution in excess of \$122,000.00, and possibly in calculations of alimony.

The Physical Child Custody award to Perrin was not in the best interest of the children. The children continued to have emotional problems even though Cindy had been completely removed from their lives for over four years. The children need their mother just as Cindy needs a relationship with her daughters. Since there was error in the physical custody, not being joint custody at a minimum, there is likewise error in an award of child support. There would be no support in a true joint custody arrangement.

However, in the event the physical custody award is upheld then the support award would be proper and consistent with the proof presented and warranted in light of the circumstanced specific to this case. The child support award was commensurate with Cindy's actual income, including her income potential, and accounted for the relationship status she had at the time with each child. No testimony heard warranted stripping a mother of her rights to legal custody.

The Chancery Court supplied a specific findings of fact and conclusions of law, and just as Cindy has appealed the actual findings so has Perrin, however Perrin alleging additional error because the Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law were not satisfactory due to the style or format used therein by the Chancellor is not reversible error.

# **ARGUMENT ON CROSS-APPEAL**

### THERE WAS NO WASTE

I. The Chancery Court erred in its determination of Equitable Distribution based upon a finding dissipation of assets or marital waste when the Evidence proved no waste.

The factors applied by this Court in the equitable division of marital property are set forth in *Ferguson*, 639 So.2d 921, 926 (Miss. 1994) as follows:

 The degree to which each spouse has expended, withdrawn or otherwise disposed of marital assets and any prior distribution of such assets by agreement, decree or otherwise.

There was a prior distribution of assets, set aside by the Court of Appeals. This matter was remanded for a determination of the marital estate which could include marital waste. *Lowrey I.* However, despite arguments otherwise <u>Perrin did not satisfy his burden of proving waste.</u>

# Perrin's Gambling Account Ledger was in the Black

At trial Perrin introduced Trial Exhibit 4, a summary of Cindy's personal checking account during the marriage. (R.E. 29-60). This exhibit listed payments for household goods and the children, credit cards payments, as well as <u>ALL</u> checks written to casinos. This ledger also included total deposits to the same account. This Trial Exhibit demonstrated that \$122,440.00 in checks were written to casinos out of Cindy's personal checking account between February 2000 and June 2002.

This same amount \$122,000 was charged to her by the Chancellor as dissipated assets. (*Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law*, September 6, 2008, Pg. 8). However the total deposits to this account for the same period were \$146,563.36!

Testimony elicited at trial revealed that not all of the money was spent at the casinos, despite the checks having been made out to them. The total deposits added up to \$146,563.36. This account had \$24,123.36 more than all of the amounts of the checks written to the casinos combined. Instead of proving waste, Perrin proved Cindy deposited more money than she withdrew. This is in no way an attempt to dismiss her gambling, but in order to demonstrate waste there must be a loss. *Craft v. Craft*, 825 So.2d 601. In *Craft*, a net loss was established of approximately \$67,000 over three or four years. *Id.* at 610. A net gain of over \$24,000 is not a loss. It cannot be waste.

# Perrin took her gambling

Perrin admitted he took Cindy to the coast to gamble nearly every year of the marriage after the casinos opened. Further, Perrin admitted that he knew Cindy had a gambling problem as early as 1995. Cindy admitted she had a gambling problem and incurred some debt. Perrin and Cindy agreed to work to pay this debt off. Yet, every year of the marriage, after Perrin knew of Cindy's problem, Perrin took Cindy to the Casino to gamble. It was undisputed that Perrin took Cindy to the coast, where both gambled in 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, and 2001. Perrin cannot complain at Cindy gambling, when he took her.

# Perrin told her to write checks to the Casinos

The testimony at trial also revealed that as early as 1995 Perrin told Cindy to write checks to the casinos. The testimony revealed that Perrin told Cindy that if she wrote checks to the casinos and had any winnings, the checks written could be shown as losses to offset the taxes on winnings,

if any. Perrin cannot complain about Cindy writing checks to casinos when Perrin instructed Cindy to write checks to the casinos!

### The Credit card account was in the Black.

The testimony revealed additional credit card debt from four accounts which Perrin testified he was not aware of, but listed as his liabilities on his 8.05 financial declaration. (Trial Exhibit 1). This debt was further evidenced by Perrin's Trial Exhibit 8, however Perrin's testimony revealed that Perrin never paid this debt. The debts totaling over \$17,000.00 were forgiven and Perrin received a substantial settlement of over \$14,000.00. That is a turnaround of \$31,000.00 and a windfall to Perrin of over \$14,000.00.

Allegations made by others, including Claude Thrash, were not in the findings because his veracity was questioned to say the least. Claude testified of the huge amounts of monies Cindy allegedly stole by misusing his business' checks. (Tr. 467-471). But he did not ever call the police, nor was one single check that was stolen or misappropriated from his business ever produced. (Tr. 473-474). Thrash was not a credible witness.

Also, testimony concerning Cindy's later visits to a casino were admitted to by her and the eye witness to the gambling did NOT see her pulling the handle on the slot machine, actively gambling. (Tr. 466-467).

In summary, Perrin has failed to prove waste. The accounts demonstrate some large withdrawals to casinos, however the total deposits exceed these withdrawals. Perrin did not have to pay the credit card debt he claimed he was liable for and actually received a windfall from those debts being forgiven, plus compensation in the form of payments. This Court must find that marital waste was not proved and that Cindy is entitled to an equitable portion of the windfall Perrin received.

- 2. Which party made substantial contribution to the accumulation of the property.

  Factors considered in determining said contribution include:
  - a. the existence of direct or indirect economic contribution to the acquisition of the property, Both parties worked in the early years of the marriage, but Perrin's earning power quickly outstripped Cindy's and she went from full time employment to staying home with the children upon the eldest child's birth in 1987. Perrin brought certain items of commingled personal property into the marriage, including some items that were gifts from his family members. All separate properties were commingled. Singley vs. Singley, 846 So.2d 1004 (Miss. 2002)
  - b. any contribution to the stability and harmony of the marital and family relationships as measured by quality, quantity of time spent on family duties and duration of the marriage. Both Cindy and Perrin contributed to the stability and harmony of the marriage until 1995, when problems began. The parties agreed to work through these difficulties and resumed living as husband and wife until 2002.
  - c. and any contribution to the education, training or other accomplishment bearing on the earning power of the spouse accumulating the assets. Cindy worked and took care of the home as Perrin worked and advanced his education early in the marriage.
- 3. The market value and the emotional value of the assets subject to distribution.

There was little testimony as to the market value of assets other than what was listed on the parties' multiple 8.05's (Trial Exhibit 1, 12, 13, 14, 16, 18). Trial Exhibit 2 and Perrin's testimony indicate all items of furniture that belonged to his family were commingled and used throughout the course of the 19 year marriage.

Likewise the parties owned a marital home. At the previous distribution, set aside on appeal, Cindy took no value out of the marital home. The value of the home for 2003 was said to be \$95,000.00 and testimony was offered that it had further increased in value at the time of the trial in 2007. The 2007 date for valuation of the parties assets is the proper date *McKay v. McKay*, 312 So.2d 12 (Miss.1975). "To hold otherwise would not be equitable." *Rainer v. Rainer*, 393 So.2d 475, 477 (Miss. 1981). Likewise the "parties must share proportionately in any losses or gains caused by the ebb and flow of the [housing] market." *Rogers v. Rogers*, 919 So.2d 184, 188 (Miss. App. 2005). The Court must consider the value of the parties estates "as to the **present situation** of the parties in determining and fixing the amount that [Perrin] should contribute to the support of his wife in the future." *McKay*, 312 So.2d *at* 14 (Miss.1975). Cindy is entitled to an equitable share of all of the marital assets as of the date of judgment 2007.

- 4. The value of assets not ordinarily, absent equitable factors to the contrary, subject to such distribution, such as property brought to the marriage by the parties and property acquired by inheritance or inter vivos gift by or to the individual spouse.

  Neither party has any non-marital assets. Cindy has substantial separate debt. (Trial Exhibit 18).
- 5. Tax and other economic consequences, and contractual or legal consequences to third parties, of the proposed distribution.

There was no testimony regarding tax or other economic consequences of any distribution.

6. The extent to which property division may, with equity to both parties, be utilized to eliminate periodic payments and other potential sources of future friction between the parties.

This Court should hold that it would be in the parties' best interests to use property division as much

as possible to eliminate future friction between them, however, equity demands that Cindy be made whole.

7. The needs of the parties for financial security with due regard to the combination of assets, income and earning capacity.

Perrin's earning capacity is much higher than Cindy's. Cindy has a real need and its incumbent of this Court not to leave a party destitute. *Retzer vs. Retzer*, 578 So.2d 580 (Miss. 1990).

# 8. Any other factor which in equity should be considered.

This matter was reversed and remanded on appeal due to misconduct on the part of Perrin and used against Cindy. *Lowrey I*, 919 So.2d 1112 (Miss. App. 2005). This Court cannot ignore this misconduct which was allowed to permeate for nearly five years. The principles of basic fairness, equity and clean hands demand that this be also taken into account in the division of marital assets and further awards.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that in making an equitable division of marital property chancellors are not required to divide the property equally. The goal of equitably distributing marital property is "not only a fair division based upon the facts of the case, but also an attempt to finalize the division of assets and conclude the parties' legal relationship, leaving them each in a self sufficient state, where the facts and circumstances permit total dissolution." *Bullock* v. *Bullock*, 699 So.2d 1205, 1211 (Miss. 1997).

As the Mississippi Supreme Court stated in *Helmsley v. Helmsley*, 639 So.2d 915 (Miss. 1994), "We assume for divorce purposes that the contributions and efforts of the marital partners, whether economic, domestic or otherwise, are of equal value." There was no credible evidence here to suggest otherwise in this nineteen (19) year marriage.

# II. The Alimony award should be reviewed in light of the erroneous finding of marital waste.

Cindy requested that she be awarded alimony. The Chancellor awarded her \$900 in periodic alimony. (Judgment of Custody, Visitation, Support, and Equitable Division of Marital Property, September 6, 2007, Pg. 1). This discussion is not an assignment of error, but an inquiry as to if the error on the marital waste issue, which may be considered as marital fault for alimony purposes, negatively impacted the alimony issue.

An award of periodic alimony should be based on the following factors:

- (1) The income and expenses of the parties;
- (2) The health and earning capacities of the parties;
- (3) The needs of each party;
- (4) The obligations and assets of each party;
- (5) The length of the marriage;
- (2) The presence or absence of minor children in the home, which may require that one or both of the parties either pay, or personally provide, child care;
- (7) The age of the parties;
- (3) The standard of living of the parties, both during the marriage and at the time of the support determination;
- (9) The tax consequences of the spousal support order;
- (10) Fault or misconduct;
- (11) Wasteful dissipation of assets by either party; or
- (12) Any other factor deemed by the court to be "just and equitable" in connection with the setting of spousal support.

Armstrong v. Armstrong, 618 So.2d 1278, 1280 (Miss. 1992); Henderson v. Henderson, 757 So.2d 285, 293-94 (Miss. 2000). The Supreme Court has reaffirmed that the "chancellor should consider the reasonable needs of the wife and the right of the husband to lead as normal a life as possible with a decent standard of living." Gray v. Gray, 562 So.2d 79, 83 (Miss. 1990), cited in Graham v. Graham, 767 So.2d 277, 280 (Miss. 2000).

Perrin is healthy and has a good earning capacity. He was 54 at the time of trial. Perrin will have the deduction for the three children for tax purposes each year. Cindy was 51 years old and not

in good health physically or emotionally. She is suffering from depression, rhematoid arthritis and anxiety as a result of the breakup of her marriage and her lack of any real relationship with her daughters. Cindy had reached her earning capacity working full-time in the produce section at the Save-Rite in Hattiesburg, and her health was starting to impact that meager amount. Cindy is responsible for significant debt related to her medical care, in addition to ongoing expenses associated with same.

For all intents and purposes Cindy has been destitute since the divorce. She received no support between the date of the separation in June 2002 and January 2007, when the Chancery Court entered a Temporary Order. Cindy was not awarded back alimony, nor was any credit for this articulated in the Chancellor's findings. Back support based on the temporary should have been \$40,500 which is calculated by multiplying the support she should have received (\$750.00, pursuant to the Temporary Order) by the number of months from the divorce to the Temporary Hearing (54).

An award of alimony in this matter is not a debate between punishment and reward. The fact of the matter is the law does not allow one party to be destitute. *Retzer*, 578 So.2d 580 (Miss. 1990). Regardless of overreaching-misconduct or gambling-misconduct.

# **ISSUES ON DIRECT APPEAL**

For issues of briefing Cindy's third argument on appeal is being combined with the fourth issue on direct appeal.

- III. Primary Physical custody to Perrin was error leading to error in Child Support.
- IV. Joint legal custody was proper in these circumstances.

Cindy was a good mother and wife for many years. Cindy was the undisputed primary caregiver for her three daughters from their birth to them becoming school age. This was

uncontradicted. Perrin admitted he was working full-time when the children were very young and Cindy stayed home with the children. Cindy cared for the children all day and the parties shared duties in the evenings when both parties were home. This arrangement continued at least until the youngest children were school age in approximately 1995-1996, and Cindy again went to work, working part-time. Even after this period Cindy continued to take the children to school, doctor's appointments and the like. This was further supported by witnesses at trial:

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